RECEIVED

Aug 19 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001489

Stivers Brothers Automotive, Inc., Appellant,

v.

W. Warner Peacock and Peacock Automotive, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STUDEMAYER LAW FIRM, P.C.

/s/ J. Gregory Studemeyer

J. Gregory Studemeyer

7478 Carlisle Street

Post Office Box 1014

Irmo, South Carolina 29063

803-393-4399

SC Bar #5416

DOUGLAS JENNINGS LAW FIRM, LLC

/s/ J. Michael Baxley

J. Michael Baxley

225 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 202

Charleston, S.C. 29492-8353

843-408-0070

SC Bar #591

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-15-110(1) PROVIDES THAT *ANY* PERSON WHO SHALL BE INJURED IN HIS BUSINESS OR PROPERTY BY REASON OF ANYTHING FORBIDDEN IN CHAPTER 15 OF TITLE 56 MAY SUE THEREFOR IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS AND SHALL RECOVER DOUBLE THE ACTUAL DAMAGES BY HIM SUSTAINED, AND THE COST OF SUIT, INCLUDING A REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE. STIVERS IS A *PERSON* AS DEFINED BY S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-15-10(n). WARNER AND PEACOCK ARE DEALERS AS DEFINED BY S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-15-10(h). IS STIVERS ENTITLED TO SUE WARNER AND PEACOCK FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE ACT IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS AND RECOVER DOUBLE THE ACTUAL DAMAGES SUSTAINED, AND THE COST OF SUIT, INCLUDING A REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEE?

2. ON REVIEW OF A MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS, THE LOWER COURT MAY NOT CONSIDER MATTERS OUTSIDE THE PLEADINGS. THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT THE LOWER COURT CONSIDERED CORRESPONDENCE SUBMITTED BY COUNSEL FOR BOTH PARTIES AND ARGUMENTS ON COLLATERAL MATTERS BEFORE GRANTING JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN GRANTING JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS?

3. IN THE ABSENCE OF A PROPER REASON, A DENIAL OF LEAVE TO AMEND IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. IN RARE CASES, HOWEVER, A TRIAL COURT MAY DENY A MOTION TO AMEND IF THE AMENDMENT WOULD BE CLEARLY FUTILE. DID THE LOWER COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING STIVERS' MOTION TO AMEND WHERE THE AMENDMENT WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN CLEARLY FUTILE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from two separate but related orders. In one order, the lower court granted a motion for judgment on the pleadings filed by W. Warner Peacock (“Warner”) and Peacock Automotive, LLC (hereafter referred to jointly as “Peacock”) and dismissed a cause of action under the Regulation of Manufacturers, Distributors, and Dealers Act (“Act”) by Stivers Brothers Automotive, Inc. (“Stivers”). In the other, the lower court denied Stivers' motion to serve a second amended and supplemental complaint.

This action was initiated by the filing of a summons and complaint on April 13, 2020. Therein, Stivers alleged that on January 7, 2020, it entered into two separate Asset Purchase And Sale Agreements (“agreements”) with Peacock.

One of the agreements provided for the sale of the assets of Stivers' Chevrolet dealership, and the other provided for the sale of the assets of Stivers' Hyundai dealership. Each agreement was subject to approval by the manufacturer.

Each agreement provided for the payment by Peacock to Stivers of the sum of \$3,500,000 for a total of \$7,000,000, in addition to the purchase price of certain assets including new vehicles, fixed assets, parts, accessories, materials, and work in process. Each agreement obligated Peacock to enter into an assignment of a Lease Agreement (“lease”) with the owner of the premises requiring the payment of approximately \$1.25 million dollars per year in rent, \$174,000 per year in property taxes, and \$118,000 per year in insurance.

Stivers alleged that Peacock sabotaged the transactions by failing to pursue approval by the manufacturers and by failing to pursue an assignment of the lease. Stivers further alleged that on March 27, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, notwithstanding the absence of a “force majeure” clause, Peacock sent notice of termination of the agreements (“the termination letter”)

for pretextual reasons and requested the return of a \$100,000 earnest money deposit from the escrow agent.

Stivers further alleged that 10 days before filing, it made a demand for adequate assurance of performance, but no assurance was provided.

Stivers sought a declaration that the agreements remained valid and enforceable notwithstanding the purported termination for pretextual reasons. Stivers also asserted claims for breach of contract, violation of the Act, intentional interference with contractual relations, and veil piercing.

Stivers sought specific performance and damages if specific performance could not be had, together with an award of costs and expenses including a reasonable award of attorney's fees. In addition to Warner and Peacock, Mary Kaye Peacock (“Mary Kaye”), and shareholders, Ken Griffey, Jr. (“Griffey”) and Jay Brennan (“Brennan”), were named as Defendants.

On June 5, 2020, Mary Kaye filed a motion to dismiss and to strike. On the same day, Peacock filed an answer and counterclaim. Therein, Peacock asserted that “. . . the world had changed since the signing of the [agreements]” and that “[the pandemic] had caused irreparable damage to [Stivers'] business assets. . .” (R. p. 40, par. 12). Peacock denied the material allegations of the complaint including Warner’s residency, asserted numerous defenses including impossibility, *impracticability*, and frustration of purpose based upon the COVID-19 pandemic (R. pp. 54-55), and counterclaimed for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, fraud in the inducement, and negligent misrepresentation.

On July 1, 2020, Stivers filed a reply. Therein, Stivers denied the material allegations of the counterclaims. On July 2, 2020, Stivers filed a notice of dismissal as to Mary Kaye, Griffey, and Brennan.

Also, on July 2, 2020, Stivers filed an amended complaint as a matter of course naming only Warner and Peacock as defendants. Other than deleting the other parties, adding additional jurisdictional allegations, providing additional context for the months of negotiations leading up to the execution of the agreements, attaching the termination letter, and adding a cause of action for breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, the amended complaint was substantially the same as the original complaint.

On July 17, 2020, Peacock filed an answer and counterclaim to the amended complaint. The answer and counterclaim was substantially the same as the original answer and counterclaim.

On July 29, 2020, Stivers filed a reply. The reply was substantially the same as the original reply.

On December 9, 2020, Peacock filed a motion and memorandum for judgment on the pleadings, suggesting that one dealer can not sue another dealer under the Act. On February 5, 2021, Stivers filed a cross-motion for judgment on the pleadings and memorandum in response.

Also on February 5, 2021, Stivers filed a motion to serve a second amended and supplemental complaint. A copy of the proposed complaint was attached thereto and incorporated therein by reference.

On March 23, 2021, a hearing was conducted on a number of motions including the motions for judgment on the pleadings and motion to amend.

On March 24, 2021, the lower court entered a Form 4 denying Stivers' motion to amend. On the same date, in a separate Form 4, the lower court denied both motions for judgment on the pleadings.

On March 25, 2021, the lower court issued a third Form 4 amending the second Form 4 issued on March 24, 2021. Therein, the lower court granted the motion for judgment on the

pleadings by Peacock and directed its counsel to prepare a proposed order.

On April 2, 2021, Stivers filed a motion to alter or amend and memorandum in support. The lower court never ruled on Stivers' motion.

On November 12, 2021, the lower court signed Peacock's proposed order granting the motion for judgment on the pleadings by Peacock and dismissing Stivers' claim under the Act.

Notice of appeal was timely served on December 10, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judgment on the Pleadings

The appellate court applies the same standard of review on a motion for judgment on the pleadings as implemented by the circuit court. *Hambrick v. GMAC Mortg. Corp.*, 370 S.C. 118, 122, 634 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct.App. 2006).

"Any party may move for a judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c), SCRCP. When considering such motion, the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted." *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 286, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000). "On review of the motion, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings." *Id.*

In evaluating a Rule 12(c) motion, the court must consider that "a complaint is sufficient if it states any cause of action or it appears that the plaintiff is entitled to any relief whatsoever. Our courts have held that pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties." *Id.* at 287, 533 S.E.2d at 353 (quoting *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991)). Moreover, "a judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts." *Id.* (quoting *Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339). *Pope v. Wilson*, 427 S.C. 377, 831 S.E.2d 442 (2019).

Amended and Supplemental Pleadings

Rule 15(a), SCRCPP provides that a party may amend his pleadings once as a matter of course at any time before or within 30 days after a responsive pleading is served. Subsequent to a first amendment, a party may amend his pleading by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party, and “leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.” Rule 15(a), SCRCPP. “This rule strongly favors amendments and the court is encouraged to freely grant leave to amend.” *Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 489-90, 804 S.E.2d 252, 261-62 (2017) (quoting *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 286, 607 S.E.2d 711, 717 (Ct. App. 2005)).

While the trial court does have the discretion to deny a motion to amend if the party opposing the amendment can show a valid reason for denying the motion, “[t]he burden is ... on the party opposing the motion to show how it is prejudiced.” *Stanley v. Kirkpatrick*, 357 S.C. 169, 175, 592 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2004). A court’s decision to grant or deny a motion to amend should not be based on the court’s perception of the merits of the proposed amendments. *Patton*, 420 S.C. at 490-91, 804 S.E.2d at 262. In rare cases, however, a trial court may deny a motion to amend if the amendment would be futile. See *Jennings v. Jennings*, 389 S.C. 190, 209, 697 S.E.2d 671, 681 (Ct. App. 2010); *rev’d on other grounds*, 401 S.C. 1, 736 S.E.2d 242 (2012).

“If a proposed amendment is not clearly futile, then denial of leave to amend is improper.” *Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry County*, 426 S.C. 175, 183, 826 S.E.2d 585, 589 (2019).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ACT APPLIES TO ALL ACTIONS ARISING UNDER THE ACT AGAINST DEALERS, INCLUDING ACTIONS BROUGHT BY OTHER DEALERS.

The Act identifies both the parties subject to its provisions and the parties whose rights can be vindicated under its provisions.

**EVERYONE ENGAGED IN THE CAR BUSINESS IN S.C. IS SUBJECT
TO THE ACT**

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-20 provides:

Any person who engages directly or indirectly in purposeful contacts within this State in connection with the offering or advertising for sale or has business dealings with respect to a motor vehicle within this State shall be subject to the provisions of this chapter and shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of this State upon service of process in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 9 of Title 15. (emphasis added).

The statute's language is considered the best evidence of legislative intent. *Ventures S.C., LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 378 S.C. 5, 8-9, 661 S.E.2d 339, 341 (2008). The court should give words their plain and ordinary meaning, without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. *Garrison v. Target Corp.*, Op. No. 28080 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed January 26, 2022) (quoting *Sonoco Prods. Co. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 378 S.C. 385, 391, 662 S.E.2d 599, 602 (2008)). When the language of a statute is clear and explicit, a court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature's language, and there is no need to resort to statutory interpretation or legislative intent to determine its meaning. *Id.* (quoting *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 87, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000)). Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. *Id.*

There is nothing ambiguous about the word "any." The word "any" is defined by *Merriam-Webster* as

- 1: one or some indiscriminately of whatever kind:
 - a. one or another taken at random//Ask *any* man you meet.
 - b. EVERY — used to indicate one selected without restriction//*Any* child would know that.

Any, Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary (last visited February 4, 2022), <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/any>.

"Person" is defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-10(n) as:

a natural person, corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, and, in case of an entity, it shall include any other entity in which it has a majority interest or effectively controls *as well as the individual officers, directors and other persons in active control of the activities of each such entity.*

(emphasis added).

“Dealer” or “motor vehicle dealer” is defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-10(h) as “*any person* who sells or attempts to effect the sale of any motor vehicle.” (emphasis added). “Sale” is defined to include “*the agreement for transfer ... of any motor vehicle ... or of any franchise related thereto; and any contract*, or solicitation, looking to a sale, or offer ... in any form, whether spoken or written.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-10(l). (emphasis added).

In its amended complaint, Stivers alleged that Warner purported to be a resident of both Florida and South Carolina (R. p. 68, par. 10) and was a person as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-10(n). (R. p. 75, par. 64). Peacock specifically admitted these allegations. (R. p. 86, par. 25 and R. p. 88, par. 57).

Stivers further alleged that Peacock was a limited liability company, organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, conducting business, directly or through affiliates, in Jasper, Lexington, and Richland Counties. (R. pp. 68-69, par. 13). Peacock specifically admitted these allegations, too. (R. p. 86).

Stivers also alleged that both Warner and Peacock were dealers as defined by S.C. Code Ann. §56-15-10(h) (R. p. 75, par. 64) and that Peacock had engaged in the motor vehicle business in South Carolina under various names since March 26, 2007. (R. pp. 67-68, par. 4). Peacock also admitted these allegations. (R. p. 85, par. 19 and R. p. 88, par. 57).

Finally, in its answer, Peacock asserted that, “at all times relevant to the matters contained in the Amended Complaint and this Answer and Counterclaims, Warner Peacock was acting in his capacity as Manager, CEO and President of Peacock Automotive . . .” (R. p. 90, par. 74).

In addition to the specific admissions of Peacock in its answer, when considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted. *Falk*, 341 S.C. at 286, 533 S.E.2d at 353.

The Act prohibits motor vehicle dealers and manufacturers from participating in unfair methods of competition and deceptive trade practices. In particular, § 56-15-40(1) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2012) declares it unlawful “for *any* ... wholesaler ... or motor vehicle dealer to engage in any action which is arbitrary, in bad faith, or unconscionable and which causes damage to any of the parties or to the public.” *Ritter and Associates, Inc. v. Buchanan Volkswagen, Inc.*, 405 S.C. 643 at 653, 748 S.E.2d 801 at 806 (Ct. App. 2013). (emphasis added).

“Section 56-15-20 creates two scenarios when the Dealer's Act will apply: (1) when a ‘person ... engages directly or indirectly in purposeful contacts within [South Carolina] in connection with the offering or advertising for sale’ of a motor vehicle; and (2) when a person has ‘business dealings with respect to a motor vehicle within [South Carolina].’” *Ritter*, 405 S.C. at 654, 748 S.E.2d at 807.

Clearly, Warner, a natural person and an officer or person in active control of the activities of Peacock as Manager, CEO, and President, and Peacock, an entity, are subject to the Act under a plain reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-20 because both admitted to selling or attempting to effect the sale of motor vehicles. Both engaged directly in purposeful contacts within South Carolina in connection with the offering or advertising for sale of motor vehicles.

Not only did they engage in offering or advertising motor vehicles for sale in South Carolina, they also had business dealings with respect to motor vehicles in South Carolina. Peacock contracted to buy Stivers’ entire inventory of new motor vehicles. (R. p. 71, par. 30).

ANY CITIZEN'S RIGHTS CAN BE VINDICATED UNDER THE ACT

The Dealer's Act provides “[i]n addition to temporary or permanent injunctive relief ..., *any person* who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden in [the Dealer's Act] may sue therefor in the court of common pleas and shall recover double the actual damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-110(1) (Supp. 2012). *Id.* (emphasis added).

“A standard principle of statutory construction provides that identical words and phrases within the same statute should normally be given the same meaning.” *Powerex Corp. v. Reliant Energy Services, Inc.*, 551 U.S. 224, 232, 127 S.Ct. 2411, 168 L.Ed.2d 112 (2007). Where the same word is used more than once in a statute, it is presumed to have the same meaning throughout unless consistent meaning would lead to an absurd result. See *Busby v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co.*, 280 S.C. 330, 312 S.E. 2d 716 (Ct. App. 1984).

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-30 does not restrict the application of the Act to actions which are arbitrary, in bad faith, or unconscionable in connection with the sale of motor vehicles. Indeed, the definition of the word “sale” in § 56-15-10(l) specifically includes the agreement for transfer of *any franchise*. Here, the negotiations between Stivers and Peacock contemplated the transfer of both a Chevrolet and a Hyundai franchise. (R. pp. 69-72, Compl., par. 20-37).

In the amended complaint, Stivers alleged that it had lawfully engaged in the business of selling and servicing new Chevrolet and Hyundai motor vehicles and used motor vehicles in Richland County, South Carolina since August 4, 2017 (R. p. 67, par. 2), that it was a domestic corporation, maintaining its principal place of business in the County of Richland, State of South Carolina (R. p. 68, par. 8), and that it was a citizen of South Carolina entitled to protection from frauds, impositions, and other abuses by dealers or motor vehicle dealers (R. 75, par. 65).

Peacock specifically admitted that Stivers operated dealerships in Richland County (R. p. 85, par. 17), admitted upon information and belief that Stivers was a domestic corporation, maintaining its principal place of business in Richland County, South Carolina (R. p. 85, par. 23), and that Stivers was a citizen of South Carolina. (R. p. 88, par. 58).

Stivers is a *person* as defined by S.C. Code Ann. Section 56-15-10(n). Stivers is also a dealer as defined by S.C. Code Ann. Section 56-15-10(h). “Dealer” or “motor vehicle dealer” is defined as any *person* who sells or attempts to effect the sale of any motor vehicle.

Stivers further alleged that by sabotaging the agreements after months of negotiations and inventing pretext in an effort to avoid them, Peacock had engaged in unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive acts or practices declared unlawful by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-30. Stivers further alleged that Peacock had engaged in malicious action which was arbitrary, in bad faith, or unconscionable, and which had caused and continues to cause it damage. (R. p. 78, par. 86 and 87).

Thus, Stivers, *a person* as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-10(n), which has been injured in its business or property by reason of unfair acts or practices, including action which was arbitrary and in bad faith, may sue a dealer and its manager, CEO, and president therefor in the court of common pleas and recover double the actual damages by it sustained, and the cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Peacock argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-80 “expressly limits” the Act in such a way as to forbid its application in disputes between dealers (R. p. 111). That section, in its entirety, reads,

The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all written or oral agreements
between a manufacturer, wholesaler or distributor with a motor vehicle dealer

including, but not limited to, the franchise offering, the franchise agreement, sales of goods, services or advertising, leases or mortgages of real or personal property, promises to pay, security interests, pledges, insurance contracts, advertising contracts, construction or installation contracts, servicing contracts, and all other such agreements in which the manufacturer, wholesaler or distributor has any direct or indirect interest.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-80.

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