**RECEIVED**

**Aug 25 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Stivers Brothers Automotive, Inc. .... Appellant,

v.

W. Warner Peacock and Peacock Automotive, LLC..... Respondents.

Case No. 2020-CP-40-01934  
Appellate Case No. 2021-001489

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Bradford N. Martin, Esq. (SC Bar No. 3658)  
Laura W. H. Teer, Esq. (SC Bar No. 16698)  
Bradford Neal Martin & Associates, PA  
Post Office Box 10410  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
(864) 552-9990

Attorneys for Respondents

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

There is no evidence that the lower court was improperly influenced by Appellant's motion for a continuance or by the letters from Appellant's counsel. The lower court stated explicitly (and

courteously) that it did not consider any material submitted outside of the record and addressed the counsel for both parties equally:

I've also read a number of letters submitted by counsel for both parties. I have intentionally not responded to them because as a court of record, you have -- one very important tenant of this Court is that it is a court of record and I do not decide motions or any other substantive matters by letter or e-mail or anywhere outside of the record. So I have intentionally failed to respond to those, but I have read each of them, each and every condescending word, but I'm prepared to go forward.

R. 284, ll. 12-21).

Neither is the lower court's admonition to Appellant's counsel regarding his argument that he did not have sufficient time to prepare to argue motions when he had sufficient time to send a number of communications to the court (R. 284, l. 1 – 285, l. 9) an indication that the lower court was biased against the Appellant.

Finally, the lower court did not admonish Appellant's counsel for answering its question, but for continuing to argue its objection to Respondents' motion after the lower court had ruled. (R. 294, ll. 3-7).

#### **IV. THE LOWER COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO AMEND ITS COMPLAINT FOR A SECOND TIME IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT**

##### **A. Orders Denying a Motion to Amend are Interlocutory**

It is well settled in South Carolina that orders denying a motion to amend an answer are not immediately appealable. First, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(1), (2)(c) (1977) provides:

The Supreme Court shall have appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors of law in law cases, and shall review upon appeal: (1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case involving the merits . . . [and] (2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such . . . (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action." . . .

The lower court's order denying the amendment neither involves the merits nor strikes a pleading. Therefore, the Legislature has made clear the order is not appealable at this time.

Second, an order denying the amendment of a complaint has been found by the South Carolina Supreme Court to be unappealable. This is because the order does not involve the merits or strike a pleading. In *Baldwin Const. Co. v. Graham*, 357 S.C. 227, 230, 593 S.E.2d 146, 147 (2004) the Supreme Court held an order denying a motion to amend was not immediately appealable because the trial court did not rule on the substantive contents of the pleading sought to be amended. Rather, the trial court merely refused to allow the amended pleading's filing. Also, the Supreme Court held in *Jefferson v. Gene's Used Cars, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 317, 318, 368 S.E.2d 456, 456 (1988) that an order denying a motion to file a late answer was not appealable because it neither involved the merits nor struck a pleading. The order ruled only that the appellants failed to show good cause and refused to allow the pleading's filing.

In the present case, the March 24, 2021 order did not rule on the contents of the pleading but merely refused to allow the filing of the second amended complaint. Thus, the order is interlocutory and not immediately appealable.

#### **B. No Nexus Exists Between the Orders**

There is no nexus between the order denying the motion to amend and the orders granting Respondents' motion for judgment on the pleadings and striking the Dealers Act. Courts may not accept appeals of interlocutory orders not ordinarily immediately appealable when appealed with a companion issue proper for review if the issue lacks a sufficient nexus or companionship to justify the exercise of immediate appellate review. See *Brown v. Cty. of Berkeley*, 366 S.C. 354, 362 n.5, 622 S.E.2d 533, 538 n.5 (2005) (finding the denial of a preliminary injunction preventing a special audit and the denial of a motion to dismiss claims for defamation, defamation *per se*, and

intentional infliction of emotional distress lacked a sufficient nexus or companionship to justify immediate appellate review).

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently affirmed this holding in *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 799 S.E.2d 479 (2017). Justice Kittredge held:

Appellants also appeal a trial court order granting Respondent Walter Smith's motion to quash Appellants' notice of deposition of Smith. We decline to address this issue because a discovery order is ordinarily not immediately appealable, and the issue "lack[s] a sufficient nexus or companionship to justify this Court's exercise of immediate appellate review." *Brown v. Cnty. of Berkeley*, 366 S.C. 354, 362 n.5, 622 S.E.2d 533, 538 n.5 (2005) (recognizing courts may accept appeals of interlocutory orders not ordinarily immediately appealable when appealed with a companion issue proper for review, but declining to do so where the issues appealed lack a sufficient nexus)...

*Smith, supra*, 799 S.E.2d at 488, fn.1.

The order denying Appellant's motion to amend its complaint for a second time is not a companion issue to the orders granting judgment on the pleadings as to the Dealers Act. The November 12, 2021 order clearly provides that the court relied on concepts of statutory construction and legislative intent in reaching its decision. The denial of a second amended complaint (which contains the identical Dealers Act cause of action) is wholly unrelated to this reasoning. As in *Smith*, these two motions lack a sufficient nexus or companionship to justify immediate review of the interlocutory order.

### **C. Ruling on the Interlocutory Order Will Not Avoid Unnecessary Litigation**

Finally, this Court's ruling on Appellant's motion to serve a second amended complaint will not avoid unnecessary litigation. See *Morris v. Anderson County*, 349 S.C. 607, 564 S.E.2d 649 (2002); *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 756 S.E.2d 155 (Ct. App. 2014). The second amended complaint adds no new causes of action, and all (with the exception of the Dealers Act)

remain to be tried; Appellant will be allowed to argue the evidence it asserts to support its remaining causes of action.

Accordingly, the appeal of the lower court's March 24, 2021, order denying Appellant's motion to serve a second amended complaint should be dismissed as interlocutory and not immediately appealable.

**V. APPELLANT'S PROPOSED SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT IS IMPROPER**

Respondents object to Appellant's appeal of the lower court's interlocutory order regarding its request to amend its complaint a second time.<sup>6</sup> This Court requested that Respondents raise these issues in their Brief. Without waiving their objection, Respondents make the following arguments in support of the lower court's ruling.

Rule 15(a), SCRPC, sets forth the standard for granting motions to amend a pleading. It provides:

A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before or within 30 days after a responsive pleading is served . . . Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given **when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.** (emphasis added).

Rule 15(d) provides:

Upon motion of the party the court may, upon reasonable notice and **upon such terms as are just,** permit him to serve a supplemental pleading . . . (emphasis added)

The grant or denial of a motion to amend is within the court's discretion. *See Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry Cty.*, 426 S.C. 175, 182, 826 S.E.2d 585, 588 (2019). ("A trial court has discretion to deny a motion to amend if the party opposing the amendment can show a valid reason for denying

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellant objects since the lower court failed to "conduct an analysis" in its written order. Appellant's Brief, p. 18. However, the transcript of the hearing, which Appellant refers to often, sets forth the grounds. (R. 288-291).

the motion.”). The court will not be reversed unless there is an abuse of discretion. *See Sullivan v. Hawker Beechcraft Corp.*, 397 S.C. 143, 153, 723 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, it is in the power of this Court to deny this unjust and prejudicial motion.

**A. The Proposed Second Amended Complaint Contains Improper Material<sup>7</sup>**

The lower court properly denied Appellant’s motion to serve a second amended complaint because its proposed pleading was replete with improper material.

**1. Improper inclusion of footnotes**

Appellant’s proposed inclusion of footnotes throughout the complaint does not comply with Rule 10(b), SCRPC requiring “consecutive numbered paragraphs, the contents of each of which shall be limited as far as practicable to a statement of a single set of circumstances.”

**2. Immaterial and impertinent allegations**

The proposed amendment is subject to a Rule 12(f), SCRPC, motion to strike as “redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.” The following are examples of the inclusion of improper material in the proposed second amended complaint:

- a. The statements in footnote 3 regarding Warner Peacock’s state of residence is immaterial as he did not object to personal jurisdiction. This footnote is meant only to prejudice Respondents;
- b. Proposed paragraphs 21 and 22 regarding investors in Peacock Automotive who are not parties to the action are immaterial and meant to harass and intimidate those individuals by naming them within the pleading;
- c. Paragraphs 37, 41, 72, and 81 are attempts to cast aspersions against Humphries who is not a Defendant in the underlying case. Appellant alleges bias but does

---

<sup>7</sup> Respondents raised additional sustaining grounds in their response to Appellant’s motion for a second amended complaint. (R. 204-213). *’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (“[A] respondent ... may raise ... any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court. It would be inefficient and pointless to require a respondent to return to the judge and ask for a ruling on other arguments to preserve them for appellate review. It also could violate the principle that a court usually should refrain from deciding unnecessary questions.”).

not claim Humphries breached his duties as an escrow agent and absconded with the funds. Nor does Appellant claim Humphries represented himself as a neutral party or that he had a duty to disclose his membership in Peacock Automotive. Whether he was a member of Peacock Automotive is irrelevant to Appellant's claims;

- d. Footnote 7 attempts to mischaracterize the allegations and defenses contained in Defendants' Answer and Counterclaim. Rule 8, SCRCR provides for "a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief". An amended complaint is not intended as a forum for commenting on the answer or counterclaims.
- e. Proposed Paragraph 69 includes another reference to Humphries and an allegation that he or someone in his law firm prepared the termination letter signed by Warner Peacock. It is immaterial whether Peacock Automotive had the assistance of its counsel in preparing the letter.

It is not just to permit proposed amendments that, if allowed, will be subject to a Rule 12(f) motion.

### 3. Improper references to confidential Early Neutral Evaluation

The lower court was most disturbed by Appellant's repeated references to the early neutral evaluation:

THE COURT: All right. Young Mr. Studemeyer. That was -- the last part there was really the first thing that stood out at me is this talk about the early neutral evaluation, but even before that the things that have happened since July 2nd, I guess beginning on July 3rd. Are those not attempts at resolution of pending litigation? I mean, I hesitate to use word the "settlement" because I don't know that that is exactly what it was, but because litigation had commenced and these are actions, really back and forth about the very subject of the litigation, are these not settlement efforts? I mean certainly the early neutral evaluation is, but even before that, are those not settlement efforts and if so how is it proper to include those in an amended complaint?

(R. 288, ll. 3-18)

. . . but to include what really are settlement negotiations to some extent, particularly where there is a demand for specific performance in the amended complaint, right, and so they come back and forth about this, these are settlement negotiations. They are not appropriate for pleadings, and so the motion to amend the complaint is denied because they are futile.

(R. 291, ll. 1-8)

ADR Rule 15(d) applies the confidentiality of ADR Rule 8 to early neutral evaluations (ENE). Rule 8(a) provides that any communications during a mediation settlement conference shall be confidential. Appellant has breached this Rule by referring to the ENE proceedings in the proposed Second Amended Complaint (R. 148-149, ¶¶ 117-122). Not only is it not just to allow the inclusion of these allegations, it is prohibited by the Court's Rules.

**B. The Motion to Amend Would be Futile**

The lower court properly found Appellant's motion to amend would be futile. A trial court may deny a motion to amend if the amendment would be clearly futile. *See Jennings v. Jennings*, 389 S.C. 190, 209, 697 S.E.2d 671, 681 (Ct. App. 2010) ("Although leave to amend should generally be 'freely given,' ... it may be denied where the proposed amendment would be futile."), *rev'd on other grounds*, 401 S.C. 1, 736 S.E.2d 242 (2012).

In *Jennings, supra.*, Mr. Jennings alleged that his wife, daughter-in-law, and a private investigator violated the Stored Communications Act when they viewed emails from his Yahoo account related to an affair in which he was engaged. After amending his complaint once, Jennings requested leave from the court to amend a second time to add his wife's attorney as a defendant on the grounds that he had received the email communications from his wife.

The court found liability under the Stored Communications Act extended only to those who improperly accessed an account. Because Jennings did not allege the lawyer accessed his account, the court found adding the lawyer would be futile, as he would be entitled to summary judgment if added. The Court of Appeals affirmed. *Jennings v. Jennings*, 389 S.C. 190, 697 S.E.2d 671, 680 (Ct. App. 2010). Likewise, Appellant's proposed amendment would be subject to a Rule 12(f) motion to strike.

In *Higgins v. Medical University of South Carolina*, 326 S.C. 592, 486 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 1997), Higgins filed a medical malpractice action against MUSC and several doctors. The Court of Appeals found the doctors immune under S.C. Code § 15-78-70 and granted their Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. The Court of Appeals considered whether to grant the plaintiff leave to amend following the 12(b)(6) dismissal but determined that any amendment claiming the doctors were paid by University Medical Services and not by MUSC would ultimately be futile. *Id.* 486 S.E.2d at 275.

In the present case, Appellant's proposed amendments are futile. Appellant's claims regarding improper termination of the APAs do not come under the Dealers Act. Appellant's proposed supplemental allegations in its amended Paragraphs 82-124 are irrelevant to Appellant's claims as they occurred after the termination of the APAs. *See Tricat Industries, Inc. v. Harper*, 748 A.2d 48 (Md. App. 2000) (finding that withholding documents, even if it constituted a breach, after the contract was terminated for cause, was irrelevant to whether cause existed for the termination.)

Further, Appellant's inclusion of improper material, including the ENE proceedings, is subject to a Rule 12(f) motion to strike and therefore futile.

Respondents respectfully request the Court find denial of Appellant's Motion to Amend its Complaint for a second time is interlocutory and not properly before the Court, or in the alternative, to affirm the lower court's denial of the Motion.